# OF THE BYLAWS OF

# THE SANCTUARY AT HAMMOCK CREEK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

The undersigned, the President and Secretary of The Sanctuary at Hammock Creek Homeowners Association, Inc., do hereby certify that the Bylaws of The Sanctuary at Hammock Creek are attached hereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused these presents to be signed in its name by its President, its Secretary and its corporate seal affixed this day of	
WITNESSES AS TO PRESIDENT:	THE SANCTUARY AT HAMMOCK CREEK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.
Printed Name: Frank DeCesare Printed Name: Todd Beforeble	By: Vetska, President
STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF Martin	
by means of physical presen	ribed, sworn and acknowledged before me ce or [ ] online notarization, by ent of The Sanctuary at Hammock Creek personally known to me, or [ ] who has as identification on
ALICIA M BROWN Notary Public - State of Florida Commission # GG 265547 My Comm. Expires Oct 7, 2022 Bonded through National Notary Assn.	Notary Public Print Name: Alicia M. Brown My Commission Expires: 10   3   2022

Recorder Carolyn T Clerk of t Martin Co Rec Fees

Inst. #2907300 Bk: 3247 Pg: 2676 Pages: 1 of 15 Recorded on:8/10/2021 10:35 AM Doc: CTF Carolyn Timmann Clerk of the Circuit Court & Comptroller Martin County, FL Rec Fees: \$129.00

# **WITNESSES AS TO SECRETARY:**

THE SANCTUARY AT HAMMOCK CREEK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

By: STUART TRENT, Secretary

SEAL ST HOME

Printed Name: Frank Decesare

Printed Name: Too

STATE OF FLORIDA COUNTY OF Martin

The foregoing instrument was subscribed, sworn and acknowledged before me by means of physical presence or [ ] online notarization, by the subscribed of the sanctuary at Hammock Creek Homeowners Association, Inc., who is personally known to me, or [ ] who has produced as identification on 15, 2021.

Notarial Seal

ALICIA M BROWN

Notary Public - State of Florida

Commission # GG 265547

My Comm. Expires Oct 7, 2022

Bonded through National Notary Assn.

**Notary Public** 

Print Name: Alicia M. My Commission Expires: 10

#### BYLAWS

OF

# THE SANCTUARY AT HAMMOCK CREEK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

## ARTICLE I

## Association

The corporation (for convenience, the "Association") has been organized to exercise all powers and discharge all duties and obligations assigned to it by the Articles of Incorporation and that certain Supplemental Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions (the "Supplemental Declaration"), which document is to be recorded in the Public Records of Martin County, Florida, to assist the Developer in the development of a phase of a residential development known as "Hammock Creek" (the "Project"). Defined terms used but not defined in these Bylaws shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Supplemental Declaration.

## ARTICLE II

## Offices

- SECTION 1. Principal Office. The principal office of the Association shall be established and maintained at 4152 West Blue Heron Boulevard, Suite 128, in the City of Riviera Beach, in the State of Florida.
- SECTION 2. Other Offices. The Association may have other offices, either within or without the State of Florida, at such

place or places as the Board of Directors may determine from time to time or the business of the Association may require.

## ARTICLE III

## Seal

The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the Association, the word "Florida", the words "Corporation Not-for-Profit" and the year of incorporation.

# ARTICLE IV

## <u>Members</u>

SECTION 1. Qualifications for Membership. There are two (2) classes of membership: (i) the "Class A Membership", which consists solely of the Developer; and (ii) the "Class B Membership", which consists of each person or entity who acquires the fee simple record title to any Parcel. The Members shall have the rights set forth in these Bylaws and in the Supplemental Declaration and Articles of Incorporation, which instruments contain additional rights of the Members.

SECTION 2. Place of Meetings. All meetings of the Members shall be held at the office of the Association, or at such other place in Martin County, Florida, and at such time as shall be stated in the notice thereof.

SECTION 3. Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the Members of the Association shall be held the first Tuesday in February beginning in 1996. If the day fixed for the annual

meeting shall be a legal holiday in the State of Florida, such meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. The purpose of the annual meeting of Members shall be to elect Directors and to transact such other business as may come before the meeting. If the election of Directors shall not be held on the day designated herein for the annual meeting of the Members, or at any adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors shall cause such election to be held at a special meeting of the Members as soon thereafter as conveniently may be.

SECTION 4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members may be called by those persons empowered by the laws of the State of Florida and must be called by the Secretary upon receipt of a written request from Members of the Association holding a majority of the voting interests of the Members.

SECTION 5. Notice of Meetings. Written notice of all meetings of Members shall be delivered to the Members within the time(s) prescribed by the laws of the State of Florida. Such notice shall be hand delivered or mailed to each Member at his address as it appears on the books of the Association. Proof of such mailing may be given by the affidavit of the person giving the notice.

SECTION 6. Waiver. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent Members from waiving notice of meetings or acting by written consent without a meeting.

SECTION 7. Quorum. A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Members shall consist of a majority

of the total votes of all classes of the membership, being present either in person, or by proxy as permitted by the laws of the State of Florida.

# SECTION 8. Voting.

- a. Each Class B Member shall have one (1) vote for each Parcel he owns. The Class A Member has certain voting rights as set forth elsewhere in or incorporated in these Bylaws, particularly with regard to the election of Directors and officers.
- When a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of a majority of the Members' votes present in person or by proxy shall decide any question brought before the meeting, unless the Supplemental Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or any applicable statute provides otherwise. If more than one (1) person, a corporation or any other entity should own a Parcel, they shall file a certificate with the Secretary of the Association naming the person authorized to cast votes for said If the certificate is not on file, the Member should not be qualified to vote and the vote of such Member shall not be considered nor shall the presence of such Member at a meeting be considered in determining whether the quorum requirement has been met. If a Parcel should be owned jointly by husband and wife, no certificate need be filed with the Secretary naming the person authorized to cast votes for said Parcel, and either spouse, but not both, may vote in person or by proxy and be considered in determining whether the quorum requirement has been met at any meeting of the Members, unless prior to such meeting, either spouse

has notified the Secretary in writing that there is a disagreement as to who shall represent the Parcel at the meeting, in which case the certificate requirement set forth above shall apply.

c. The use of proxies shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida; provided, however, in the absence of conflicting law, the following shall apply: All proxies, in order to be valid, must be on file with the Secretary of the Association by 3 p.m. on the date prior to the date of any meeting of the Members.

## ARTICLE V

## Board of Directors

SECTION 1. Powers. The business of the Association shall be managed and its corporate powers shall be exercised by its Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in the Supplemental Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or by the laws of the State of Florida.

# SECTION 2. <u>Election and Term of Office</u>.

a. Directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of Members, except as provided in Sections 3 and 4 of this Article. At each meeting of Members for the election of Directors at which a quorum is present, the persons receiving the greatest number of votes, up to the number of Directors to be elected, shall be the Directors. Each Director shall hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting, or until his successor is elected and qualified, his earlier resignation by written notice to the Secretary of the Association or his removal from office. Prior to

each annual meeting, the Board of Directors shall appoint a Nominating Committee consisting of three (3) Members, using such procedures as the Board may establish. The Nominating Committee shall nominate one (1) person for each vacancy to be filled at the annual meeting, and each Member shall be provided with a list of the nominations at least thirty (30) days prior to the annual meeting. Other nominations may be made from the floor. The election shall be by written ballot and by a plurality of the votes cast, each Member voting being entitled to cast his votes for each of as many nominees as there are vacancies to be filled.

b. Notwithstanding provisions to the contrary herein, the Developer has the right to appoint all Directors and to approve the appointment of all officers of the Association until the Developer owns no Parcels in this Phase and has no right to purchase any of the Additional Property and no Approved Builder owns any Parcels in this Phase. The Developer may relinquish this right in writing earlier at any time in its sole discretion.

SECTION 3. Vacancies. Any Director may resign at any time by an instrument in writing delivered to the Association, and the acceptance thereof by the Association shall not be necessary to make such resignation effective. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including any vacancy created by reason of an increase in the number of Directors, shall be filled as provided by the laws of the State of Florida. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer shall have the sole right to fill any vacancy of a Director for whom it has the right of appointment.

SECTION 4. Removal. A Director may be removed from office by the affirmative vote of a majority of all the Members entitled to vote for the election of Directors, either with or without cause, and the remaining Directors, in the manner provided in these Bylaws, shall fill any vacancy or vacancies created by such a removal.

SECTION 5. <u>Place of Meetings</u>. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the office of the Association, or at such other place in Martin County, Florida, and at such time as shall be stated in the notice therefor.

SECTION 6. Requiar Meetings. The Board of Directors shall hold a regular meeting each year immediately after the annual meeting of the Members at the place where such meeting of the Members was held for the purpose of election of officers and for the consideration of any other business that may be properly brought before the meeting. No notice of any kind to either old or new members of the Board of Directors for such regular meeting shall be necessary. The Board of Directors may establish a schedule of regular meetings.

Board of Directors may be called by those persons empowered by the laws of the State of Florida on two (2) days' written notice to each Director. All notices of special meetings shall state the purpose, time and place of the meeting. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent Directors from waiving notice of meetings of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 8. Quorum. A majority of all the Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The affirmative vote of the majority of Directors present at a meeting where a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of the Directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. The joinder of a Director in the action of a meeting by signing and concurring in the minutes of that meeting shall constitute the presence of such Director for the purpose of determining a quorum. The order of business at a meeting of the Directors shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE VI

## Procedure -

Robert's Rules of Order (latest edition) shall govern the conduct of proceedings when not in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association or with the laws of the State of Florida.

## ARTICLE VII

## Officers

President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. The Association shall have a have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a Chairman of

the Board and one or more Vice Presidents (however titled),
Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, each of whom shall
hold office for such period, have such authority and perform such
duties as the Board of Directors may determine.

EXECTION 2. <u>Election</u>. The officers of the Association, except such officers as may be elected in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 or Section 5 of this Article, shall be elected at the regular meeting of the Board of Directors held immediately after the annual meeting of the Members, and each shall hold his office until he shall resign or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified to serve, or his successor shall be elected and qualified. Officers shall be elected by the affirmative vote of the majority of Directors present at a meeting where a quorum is present.

SECTION 3. Removal and Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors, or to the Chairman of the Board, if one shall have been elected, or the President or the Secretary of the Association. The Board of Directors may remove any officer at any time as provided by the laws of the State of Florida. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors.

# SECTION 4. Duties of Officers.

President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association and, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall have general supervision, direction and control of the business and affairs of the Association. He shall preside at

all meetings of the Members, and in the absence of the Chairman of the Board, shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He shall execute deeds, bonds, mortgages and other instruments on behalf of the Association, except where required or permitted by law to be signed and executed otherwise and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors to some other officer or agent of the Association. He shall be ex-officio a member of all the standing committees, if any, shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of the chief executive officer of a corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws.

Secretary. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing minutes of the meetings of the Directors and Members and for authenticating records of the Association. The Secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, a book of minutes at the registered or principal office, or such other place as the Board of Directors may order, of all meetings of Directors and Members, with the time and place of holding, whether regular or special, and if special, how authorized, the notice thereof given, the names of those present at Directors' meetings, the number of shares present or represented at Members' meetings and the proceedings thereof. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all the meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors required by these Bylaws or

by law to be given and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors.

Treasurer. The Treasurer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct accounts of the properties and business transactions of the Association, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts and disbursements. The books of account shall be open at all reasonable times to inspection by any Director. The Treasurer shall deposit all moneys and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Association with such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. He shall disburse the funds of the Association, shall render to the President and any Director, whenever requested, an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Association, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE VIII

## Amendment to Bylaws

These Bylaws may be repealed or modified by the vote of a majority of the Board of Directors present at any regular meeting of the Board, or at a special meeting of the Directors called for that purpose. However, no such amendment may be made which would adversely affect the rights of any Institutional Mortgagee without the written consent of such Institutional Mortgagee. Further, until such time as the Developer has relinquished control of the

Association, no such amendment shall be effective without the written consent of the Developer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sections 1 and 8a. of Article IV, Section 2b. of Article V and Article X may only be amended upon the affirmative vote of all the voting interests of all the Members.

## ARTICLE IX

## Indemnification

The Association shall indemnify any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Association to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the State of Florida.

## ARTICLE X

## Construction

The Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws and the Supplemental Declaration shall be read and interpreted consistently. However, in the event of any conflict in the terms thereof, the terms of the Supplemental Declaration shall prevail over the terms of the Articles of Incorporation and the Bylaws, and the terms of the Articles of Incorporation shall prevail over the terms of the Bylaws. The terms of the Supplemental Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation are incorporated herein by this reference.

## ARTICLE XI

# Severability

The provisions of these Bylaws shall be separable each from any and all other provisions of these Bylaws, and if any such provision shall be adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, or the powers granted to this Association by the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws.

Adopted this 15 day of MALCH, 1995.

THE SANCTUARY AT HAMMOCK CREEK HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

By: Fine T Elugar, President

Secretary

ATTEST:

(CORPORATE SEAL)

F:\MORDPROC\JW\HANNEANC.BYL/clc 3954/8340